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Minutes: 

Relating to the duty to report a missing child or the death of a child 

Senator David Hogue - Chairman 

Senator Tyler Axness- District 16, Fargo & West Fargo - See written testimony. 

Senator Hogue - Asks him if caregiver is defined in our code. 

Senator Axness - Offers an amendment in regards of the term caregive. He said in this 
amendment it means a caregiver is a parent, guardian, or adult household member or an 
individual that is responsible for a child's care during a given time. 

Senator Armstrong - Asks if child is also defined. 

Senator Axness - Replies that is usually referred to children under 18. He says this bill is 
to get the ball rolling to protect the kids. He said he has spoken to law enforcement and 
they brought up the issues of older run away children. 

Senator Armstrong - Believes it is not only run-aways but older independent children. 

Senator Axness - Agrees but said parents still need to have accountability for their 
children and this bill is a step in the right direction. He said he hopes this bill never has to 
be used but we need the tools prepared if this does occur. 

Senator Hogue - Asks if there is any rational why this is a Class C felony. 

Senator Axness - Responds that the Class C felony was set to deter such negligence. He 
said there are other states that have enacted this penalty. He said there is at least 11 
states that have enacted similar legislation. Eight other states are looking at such 
legislation. 

Senator Berry - Asks if there have been instances in the state that necessitated this bill. 

Senator Axness- Said he has witnessed some concerns across the state, not specifically 
a missing child over 24 hours. He cites issues of child abuse. 
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Senator Nelson - Recites from the code that a minor is defined as persons less than 18 
years of age and unless otherwise specified the term child means minor. 

Senator Axness- Submits testimony from Prevent Child Abuse ND. 

Representative Hogan - District 21, Central Fargo - In support of this bill. She said she 
received many contacts during the interim on this issue and to have this bill introduced. She 
said there is significant concern about the fact that parents would not report. She hands out 
data from the NCSL. She says she believes it is the parent's responsibility to report their 
children missing. 

Annette Bendish - Legal Counsel for the ND School Boards Association - See written 
testimony. She proposes an amendment. 

Senator Hogue - Asks if they would support the bill with the amendments she proposed to 
which she replied they would. There is continued discussion as to the roll schools play in 
this responsibility. 

Aaron Birst - Association of Counties - Says they do support this bill and offers their 
assistance in working on this bill. 

Jannelle Moos - Executive Director for the NO Council on Abused Women Services - She 
says they stand in support but would like the committee to consider some amendments. 
She has concerns of domestic abused women who choose to go missing with their 
children, there are specific reasons why a mother may want to escape a violent situation. 
She would like to other amendments to address these types of situations. She mentions 
she would be happy to work with the committee. 

Mike Reiten - Assistant Police Chief, West Fargo - He says state law enforcement met 
yesterday and this bill was one of the topics discussed. They do support the bill but are 
concerned about some of the language and would be willing to work with counsel to 
address the issues. 

Senator Armstrong - Asks him if he has an age that would be appropriate for this. 

Reiten - Replies that each situation is unique and thinks it would probably be best left at 17 
and under. 

Senator Sitte - Asks if this bill will un-necessarily spark amber alerts all over the state. 

Reiten - Responds that amber alerts have very strict criteria and he thinks very few of 
these cases would result in that. 

Jack McDonald - Appearing on behalf of the YMCA's of NO - In support of the bill but 
concerned about what the obligations would be on their day care operations. He said they 
would be willing to work on this to tighten up the guidelines. 
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Senator Berry - Suggests using the word guardian to stop the confusion on who is 
responsible to report. 

Opposition - none 

Neutral - none 

Close the hearing on 2125 
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Senator David Hogue - Chairman 

Committee work 

Senator Lyson proposes an amendment and explains that they have changed the ages that 
you must report a missing child and that it makes it a Class 8 misdemeanor. He says they 
do not want to put people in jail, they want people to report. 

Senator Lyson moves the amendment 13.0007.01003 
Senator Armstrong seconded 

Discussion 
Senator Sitte doesn't think there is the evidence that we need this law. Senator Lyson said 
we do need this bill. He believes it will help in investigations. Senator Grabinger says this 
may be a work in progress but it is a good start and could possibly help a lot. 

Vote - 7 yes, 0 no 
Motion passes 

Senator Armstrong moves a do pass as amended 
Senator Berry seconded 

Discussion 
Committee discusses the age limits. Senator Armstrong says being gone for 48 hours 
when you are 17 is a lot different than when you are 13. He says there are some that want 
to be out of the home and some that drop out of school or go to work in the oil fields. 

Vote - 6 yes, 1 no 
Motion passes 

Senator Lyson will carry 

II 
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Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Lyson 

February 18, 2013 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2125 

Page 1, after line 7 insert: 

For purposes of this section and section 2 of this Act. "caretaker" means 
the individual who is responsible for the physical control of a child and who 
is the child's biological or adoptive parent. the spouse of the child's 
biological or adoptive parent. or an individual acting in the stead of a child's 
parent at the request of the parent or another with authority to make the 
request. 

II 

Page 1, line 8, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker" 

Page 1, line 8, after "responsible" insert "at that time" 

Page 1, line 8, after "child" insert "under the age of thirteen years" 

Page 1, line 10, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker" 

Page 1, line 11, remove "For" 

Page 1, replace lines 12 and 13 with " 3. A caretaker who is responsible at that time 
for the care of a child at least thirteen years of age but under the age of seventeen 
years and who is unable to make contact with or otherwise verify the whereabouts and 
safety of that child for a period of forty-eight hours is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if 
the caretaker willfully or negligently fails to report the child as missing to law 
enforcement immediately after the forty-eight-hour period expires. " 

Page 1, line 17, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker" 

Page 1, line 17, replace "caregiver's" with "caretaker's" 

Page 1, line 17, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 
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Com Standing Committee Report 
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Module ID: s_stcomrep_30_024 
Carrier: Lyson 

Insert LC: 13.0007.01003 Title: 02000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2125: Judiciary Committee (Sen. Hogue, Chairman) recommends AMENDMENTS AS 

FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS (6 YEAS, 1 NAYS, 
0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). SB 2125 was placed on the Sixth order on the 
calendar. 

Page 1, after line 7 insert: 

For purposes of this section and section 2 of this Act, "caretaker" means 
the individual who is responsible for the physical control of a child and 
who is the child's biological or adoptive parent. the spouse of the child's 
biological or adoptive parent. or an individual acting in the stead of a 
child's parent at the request of the parent or another with authority to 
make the request. 

II 

Page 1, line 8, replace "caregiver'' with "caretaker" 

Page 1, line 8, after "responsible" insert "at that time" 

Page 1, line 8, after "child" insert "under the age of thirteen years" 

Page 1, line 1 0, replace "caregiver'' with "caretaker" 

Page 1, line 11, remove "For'' 

Page 1, replace lines 12 and 13 with " 3. A caretaker who is responsible at that time 
for the care of a child at least thirteen years of age but under the age of seventeen 
years and who is unable to make contact with or otherwise verify the whereabouts 
and safetv of that child for a period of forty-eight hours is guilty of a class B 
misdemeanor if the caretaker willfully or negligently fails to report the child as 
missing to law enforcement immediately after the forty-eight-hour period expires." 

Page 1, line 17, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker'' 

Page 1, line 17, replace "caregiver's" with "caretaker's" 

Page 1, line 17, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker'' 

Renumber accordingly 

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 s_stcomrep_30_024 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to the duty to report a missing child or the death of a child; and to provide a penalty. 

Minutes: Testimony 1, Handout #2 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: Opened the hearing on SB 2125. 

Senator Axness: (See testimony #1) 00:27 - 5:41. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: I wonder about the two hour time limit in the death of a child. If 
you have grieving parents and two hours later they are both guilty of a Class C Felony; it 
seems harsh to me. 

Senator Axness: The intention of this bill is if you willfully or negligently do not report. The co­
sponsor of this bill went through that in his personal life and he shared that with the Senate 
and he felt this was absolutely acceptable language. The way this would be enforced in 
instances where it is grieving no one would be held as a felon because they needed some time 
to grieve. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: There is nothing in section 2 that states willfully or neglectfully. 
This only applies to a caretaker under the jurisdiction of NO state law. 

Senator Axness: I see that is not in there. 

Rep. Bill Kretschmar: Did you think of putting something in the bill where a caretaker would 
deliberately not report an injured or ill child? 

Senator Axness: That never did come up on the Senate side that"would be reported. For the 
most part parents in the State of North Dakota do a fabulous job in taking care of their kids and 
reporting injuries etc. 

Rep. Gary Paur: Is this what's referred to as Caylee's Law? 



House Judiciary Committee 
SB 2125 
April 2, 201 3  
Page 2 

Senator Axness: The instance you referred to raise the issue and the loop hole across the 
nation that we need to look at to make for sure parents are being held accountable for children 
that have gone missing so they are reported to law enforcement and allowing them to do their 
job to bring a child back safely in the most timely fashion. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: On section 2 it doesn't give them a defense if somebody else 
reports it, but the parents or caretaker? Nobody is ever going to prosecute them for failing to 
report as required by this statue if somebody else does it, but it doesn't say that. 

Senator Axness: That never came up on the Senate side that we need to have protections 
for somebody else reporting. The overall purpose is to be sure the death of a child is being 
reported in a timely fashion so the professionals can get to the deceased body and make a 
determination of what the cause was and go from there. 

Rep. Diane Larson: This also doesn't say anything if a child is in a hospital and die. 

Senator Axness: Subsection 2 says that this section does not apply if a death of a child 
occurs in a hospital. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: Wouldn't you want those reported as well? 

Senator Axness: if they are under the care of a healthcare professional or emergency 
medical personnel that would be there and reported. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: If thought you were trying to get the report to the law 
enforcement agency. 

Senator Axness: This bill is intended of people that have acted negligence or willfully chose 
not to inform law enforcement. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: If you point is any death under any circumstance needs to be 
reported to law enforcement and you are excluding someone. Is it possible that there would 
be a negligence that should be reported if they are under the care of medical personnel? 

Senator Axness: Most hospitals have the process which they go through to determine 
malpractice on behalf of that institution so if that is deemed to be negligence on behalf of the 
healthcare professional I imagine that law enforcement would be informed on that instance. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: the idea of professional protocols being there to take care of 
questionable situations whether it is reporting circumstances in the death of a child as the case 
might be in this bill or whether it is surrounding potential abuse of a vulnerable adult. On the 
one bill we are saying we need a bill to force or require healthcare professionals to report 
these things to law enforcement. This bill excludes them and it seems like a double standard. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: Page one under subsection two and three on lines 17 and 22 it 
uses the words immediately after. You are guilty of a crime then if you don't report 
immediately after the time period expires. We have a consideration when we look at pineal 
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statue says they have to be fairly precise and not unconstitutionally vague or they might be 
declared void for vagueness. The term immediately after troubles me. What does that mean? 

Senator Axness: It would be 24 hours and 1 minute if we want to be specific on the 
immediacy of it. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: What is immediately after the 24 hour period? 

Senator Axness: It would be one minute. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: If a parent doesn't know they are required to report the child 
missing one minute after the 24 hour period expires are they guilty of a Class C felony? 

Senator Axness: This bill is to get after people who know their child is missing and don't 
report. We had to set a timeframe and stick to it. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: What if they don't know we have a statue and they don't make 
that report within one minute after 24 hours expires you are guilty of a Class C Felony and can 
go to jail for 5 years? Trying to think of a willful situation? 

Rep. Diane Larson: In response to Rep. Klemin's question as you know I work at the police 
youth bureau when I am not here and there are times when I have gotten called because a 
youth was picked up breaking into motor vehicles. We contact the parent and the youth tells 
that they have been just gone for a few days and the parent has no idea where they are; they 
have never even contacted the police to report their child missing. They let them fend for 
themselves and a lot of the times the parents are drinking or something like that. Nobody is 
looking out for the interest of the child. That would be an example of a negligent situation 
where parents are more interested in their drinking friends than their children. Parents have 
gone out of town and left their kids and they are doing whatever. They should notice their child 
is gone within 24 hours. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: Rep. Larson talked about the reporting being done within that 
24-48 hour period, but that is not the way this statue reads. It reads that you have to report 
immediately after. What if the parents say I did not know he was missing? I thought he was 
over at John's house. 

Senator Axness: There should have been intent to say for the 24 hours a parent should be 
trying to find their kid that is under 13 within 24 hours. I don't know how else to describe that 
but just being a good parent. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: You talked a couple of times in your testimony about this being a 
collaborate effort among law enforcement. Who asked you to introduce the bill? 

Senator Axness: After Florida there was an outrage and there should be something done to 
protect kids in this state in case this would happen. That is where the discussion started so 
after the election I decided there hasn't been any action on this so I will take it upon myself to 
do so. 
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Chairman Kim Koppelman: It is difficult to legislate good parenting. It is difficult to enforce 
some of these standards that we are talking about. The terms willfully or negligently are two 
very different standards under the law. These are hard laws to enforce. Did this come up in 
the Senate side? 

Senator Axness: I have good faith in this committee to figure out what those concerns are in 
the language of this bill to make this bill the best it can be. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: (See handout #2) 28:13 - 29:29. During the interim I got numerous 
contacts. It was the one issue I got contacts on was about Caylee's Law. I did research and 
this handout is what I found and how it affects various states. Regarding a question you asked 
about Section 2 of the 2nd section Chairman K. Koppelman all the health care providers are 
reported currently mandated reporters. That is why it is currently covered. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: Is there a criminal penalty for not reporting like it would be under 
this bill? 

Opposition: None 

Neutral: 

Annette Bendish, Legal Counsel, ND School Boards Association: We do support the spirit 
of the bill; however I do have concerned with the definition of caretaker. A person acting 
instead of a child's parent at the request of a parent or another with authority to make the 
request would include our teachers and school administrators. For a child under 13 if a child 
would potentially miss one day of school and the parent did not call in and the teacher or 
administrator could not verify the ware about of that child they could potentially be prosecuted. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: Do you have any proposed amendments? 

Annette Bendish: On the Senate side they did introduce a proposed amendment that 
included an exemption for those individuals who are responsible for enforcing compulsory 
attendance laws under Title 15.1 of the Century Code and I can certainly provide that language 
to the committee. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: We would like to see them. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: I understand your concern but it is the intent of the bill but I think 
that anyone that would have knowledge of a child being missing should be excluded for a 
particular reason? If it is a 24 hour it would be a second day of an absence probably. 

Annette Bendish: I think you are correct. Another issue that Rep. Klemin has hit on is the 
language of negligently. That coupled with the definition that could include our teachers and 
administrators is very concerting to me. 

Rep. Diane Larson: Isn't the prentice a local responsibility of the school. Doesn't that 
caretaker part only apply when the child is in school? 
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Annette Bendish: Yes it does apply while they are in school. I think when you start looking at 
the timeframes in this law and how strict they are so we do get into that situation if a child is 
absent for one day two days or three days. When is that 24 hour period under this law 
applied? That period would be shorter than what is under the compulsory attendance laws. 

Rep. Larson: It would seem to me if a second grader left school at noon and didn't return that 
it would be the responsibility of the school because they were in that custody of that child 
during that time then that would be their obligation to report that child is missing. 

Annette Bendish: I agree if that second grader leaves and doesn't return for 2-3 days does 
this law kick in? That is my concern with the language of it to make sure that it is clear to our 
teachers and administrators what their responsibilities are. I think it is just a clarity issue. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: Kids usually signed out at the office when they left school. Following up 
on what Rep. Larson's said; if a kid simply left school my administrators followed up on it. 
Maybe that was part of putting that amendment on in the Senate because there is a fine line 
there. 

Chairman K. Koppelman: I think what Rep. Larson was making that it was her reading of the 
bill that it wouldn't apply unless a student was there during that day and then left. If a student 
is enrolled and marked absent that day they are missing. How soon could you get that 
amendment to us? 

Annette Bend ish: As soon as I get back to the office. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: How do you interpret when the time frame starts? Does it start 
when you try and make contact and can't or does it start some other time? 

Annette Bend ish: I think it would be at the point that the student is absent and there hasn't 
been parental contact. That is a concern as to when does those 24 hours starts in the school 
setting? 

Rep. Klemin: When does it start in a non-school setting? 

Closed. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

Relating to the duty to report a missing child or the death of a child; and to provide a penalty 

Minutes: I 
Chairman Kim Koppelman: Opens SB 2125 for committee action. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: Explained proposed amendments, 13.0007.02001 .  Rep. Hogan and 
he worked on the amendments to make it less of a strict liability statute and more of an objective 
standard. This relates to the duty to report a missing child and its limitation statute. This is based 
on Caylee's law. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: The court would understand and rule what was reasonably if there was a 
question? They would determine depending on the circumstances? 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: The prosecutor would have to, to start with. The courts are used to 
dealing with what's reasonable standard. Section 2 that deals with the death of a child is a strict 
liability standard. If you don't report a death of a child to law enforcement within two hours you are 
guilty. If you are overcome with emotion and couldn't do it for whatever reason too bad but we 
changed that to put in the work "willfully" on line 5 after "caretaker". That is the same wording in the 
first part. We kept the same time limits and penalties. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: Made a motion on the proposed amendments. 

Rep. Andy Maragos: Second the motion. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: The amendments improved the bill significantly and get at some of the 
issues and concerns that came up during the testimony on the bill. What if the missing child has 
already been reported? 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: We determined the law does not require trifles. The court is going to 
take that into account, you are not going to hold somebody guilty of a felony for not reporting 
something that has been reported. It's been reported and that is the whole point of it. We go back to 
the term caretaker and it is a parent, an adopted parent, or a babysitter acting instead of the child's 
parent. 
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Chairman Kim Koppelman: Could you have a scenario where mom thought dad made the call and 
dad thought mom made the call and nobody made the call and they are both felons? 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: Then we get into the reasonable man standard and the use of the 
word willfully. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: The first part of the proposed amendment where you excluded 
educators in school that was a request that the Senate did not take up even though it was offered to 
them. Looking at the definition of caretaker in the bill it is the parent of a child or an individual acting 
in the stead of a child parent at the request of the parent or another with authority to make the 
request. The child spends more time at school and questions why school personal are immune. 
Why would you want to eliminate them? 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: The statue referred to 15.20.1-03 requires reporting by the school 
administrator if the child is missing. That statute says each teacher and administrator is charged 
with enforcement to call compulsory attendance provisions. If a teacher determines a student is not 
in attendance and not been excused the teacher notifies the administrator, the administrator shall 
then initiate an investigation into the cause of the absence if the administrator has reason to believe 
the person having responsibility has failed to ensure that the students in attendance the 
administrator shall refer the matter to local law enforcement agency. Any person who fails to ensure 
this is required by this chapter is guilty of an infraction or a Class B misdemeanor. The goal here is 
to have a report to law enforcement agency. The compulsory attendance law that referred to in this 
amendment has that requirement. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: Except with what you just read an educator or an administrator not 
making that report could be guilty of an infraction or Class B misdemeanor. A parent not making 
that report if this bill becomes law would be a Class C felony. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: The penalty is different. The goal here is the same is to have the 
report made and the schools, I'm sure all schools have some kind of policy procedure they follow 
with the possibility of a child missing to comply with this compulsory attendance law. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: The other issue that schools are all mandated reporters for child abuse and 
neglect and many of the missing child reports actually come through the child abuse and neglect 
kinds of situations. There are penalties for not reporting. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: There are also circumstances where it's a little different with a teacher that has 
30 kids or a school that has 600 than hiring a babysitter who is in your house under the purview. 
Sometimes parents decide to take their kids away for the weekend and forget to call the school. So 
you setting up situations that could hold up law enforcement as well checking into things aren't 
emergencies. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: I don't disagree with that but what about a day care that has 30 kids 
and they forget to call the day care and tell them? We are holding that day care provider who has 
less training professionally than an administrator at a school and we are saying this person is a 
Class C felon and the school would have an infraction. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: But it is covered in statue that there will be something done if the school 
knows something is going on. Teachers are mandated and somebody will pay the price if that would 
be what is going on. Day care providers are also mandated to report. 

Rep. Diane Larson: In the case of a day care provider, I think the school part of the amendment is 
unnecessary but it won't do any harm. This applies to a caretaker who is when a child is supposed 
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to be in their care. So a day care is only supposed to take care of the child when they show up. It's 
not like they should be responsible for reporting to law enforcement. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: I think they would be if the child goes missing after they show up. 

Rep. Diane Larson: After they show up, that's my point. Once they show up and then they go 
missing they better report it. But if parents forget to call, I don't think it's the responsibility of the day 
care to call law enforcement to say this child didn't show up today because they would assume for 
day care that they are in their parents' custody still. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: I think that is reasonably but I'm not sure the language of the bill 
defines it the way you are describing. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: It's a chain of custody situation. Until that child shows up at the day 
care that child is in the custody of the parent or other person that is responsible for his care. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: If that's true the same would be true of the school. So that would 
render this unnecessary. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: They do have this compulsory attendance law that requires 
reporting to law enforcement. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: Rep. Klemin you mentioned when you and Rep. Hogan did not do 
anything with the penalty, I am looking at the penalty referenced under the compulsory attendance 
law which is a Class C felony. The people we are looking at penalizing here is parents. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: If you asked the general public about this what happened with Caylee, I don't 
think you would find an argument in this state. We added willfully in there, this is I failed to take care 
of my child so I don't think anyone is going to argue with it. 

Rep. Diane Larson: If the school has a second grader that walks away at noon and does not show 
back up then the school could be held to the felony offense because this wouldn't have anything to 
do with compulsory attendance. They were in the schools care at that time. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: But the amendment specifically removes them. 

Rep. Diane Larson: Just for compulsory attendance. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: So you are saying if they left, is that your understanding of that also. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: It says if a teacher determines if a student is not in attendance and 
has not been excused then the teacher shall notify the administrator. It doesn't say if they are not in 
attendance at the beginning of the school day or if a student is not in attendance sometime during 
the school day. Even if they were there initially and now are not there I think the compulsory 
attendance law still applies. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: But your amendment doesn't deal with the activity is deals with the 
definition; it says caretaker does not include an individual who is charged with the enforcement of 
compulsory attendance provisions under section 15.120.03. I read that to say it has nothing to do 
with the activity of enforcing compulsory attendance it has to with the people. So it is excluding 
those educators from this statue. So I think if you show up and leave at ten o'clock in the morning 
they are not required to report, except arguably under this is you want to read it that way. 
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Rep. Gary Paur: Should it say caretaker under this section as it does not include an individual? 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: It wouldn't need to say that because we are in a subsection that has the 
definition. It says for the purposes of this section and section two of this act caretaker means - and 
we would be adding what caretaker does not include. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: I'm not comfortable placing the duty on the teacher to make a report 
of a missing child within the time limits that are required here or face a felony offense if they do 
follow this compulsory attendance requirement. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: Again teachers are mandated reporters for child abuse and neglect and if there 
was a concern that is the other way they would report to law enforcement. This is not a major 
concern for education. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: Even though the penalties aren't the same in the compulsory 
attendance statue there are penalties. 

Rep. Karen Karls: Here is another scenario, a friend runs a day care she has several moms that 
are receiving government assistance there are time they do not bring their kids, they don't let her 
know, she can't reach them by phone what would her duty to report be under this? 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: There would not be any because until the child is there she is not responsible. 
She doesn't have custody of the child. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: If a second grader doesn't come back after recess I don't know a teacher that 
would not immediately go into the office and say this kid is gone. If a child has disappeared 
someone will track them down and find out where they are. Once they are in your custody we have 
to leave it to the responsible adult that is going to do the right thing if suddenly a child isn't there. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: The compulsory attendance law deals with the time frame that is 
much shorter than the 24 and 48 hour periods here. This is during the day and if they don't show up 
after two hours they are guilty of a penalty. The other one takes 24 to 48 hours before the penalty 
kicks in. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: The chain of custody you talked about is the intent of the bill but when 
it says an individual acting in the stead of a child's parent at the request of the parent or another 
authority to make that request does not mean a physical change of custody? 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: On line 1 3  it says a caretaker who is responsible "at that time". 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: So if I wanted to read it the other way, is the day care provider 
responsible for the physical control of the child, yes. Are they responsible at that time if the parents 
normally drop the child off at 7:30am and that is the routine, they are physically responsible at that 
time? 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: If we followed that rational she would also have to report the parents 
missing. 

Rep. Vicky Steiner: On page 2 where you have within two hours do you think two hours is a magic 
time or should we have a reasonable time. If you are out and don't have cell phone service for three 
hours are you guilty? 
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Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: There is where willfully comes in. 

Rep. Diane Larson: It almost seems like the schools part of the amendment starting on line 12 
complicates the issue by specifically exempting them from those day time hours. That almost 
seems like the day care would potentially fit in if we are excluding them specially instead of just 
keeping the caretaker responsible at that time. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: I'm not sure the Senate was presented with this exact amendment. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: It is my understanding she had presented it to them and they didn't 
adopt it. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: Teachers are under tighter restrictions with that in than with that out. If a child 
disappears and I don't report that to my supervisor you think I'm not going to be charged with abuse 
and neglect? Something happens to that child and he is in my care and I think as a teacher I'm 
responsible under the law I will be punished as well as I should be. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: But you have 24 hours to do it as a teacher under this bill whereas 
you don't have that long under the compulsory attendance statute. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: But I don't think it is accurate to say that with the amendment you 
have a stricter standard because that standard is in law now. 

Voice vote carried. 

Rep. Nathan Toman: I have a Century Code question, so this is dealing with reporting is there 
already something in code for abuse and neglect that they can be charged for? 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: Yes. 

Rep. Nathan Toman: Would we charge them with two things then? 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: Because this is primarily focused on parents or caregivers there are not 
mandatory reporters where schools, day cares all of those individuals are mandatory reporters 
under the child protection so that is why this is needed. A parent is not a mandatory reporter. They 
can be charged with abuse and neglect and in fact in the Florida situation there were significant 
questions about that. But the reporting piece wasn't included in the law. 

Chairman Kim Koppelman: Under current law are there other laws they can get charged with 
neglect or abuse under? 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: That was the situation because it wasn't clearly defined in law and the 
conclusion was that most states needed this kind of missing child law. 

Vice Chairman Larry Klemin: In response to Rep. Toman's question about abuse, we have a 
statute 14.09.22 which is the same chapter that this bill puts a new section and that deals with 
abuse or neglect of a child and the penalty there is a Class C felony unless the child is under the 
age of six, in which case it is a Class B felony. There is four different subdivisions detailing what 
abuse and neglect might be. The abuse and neglect statue is broad and provides for even greater 
penalty than is under this bill. 
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Rep. Andy Maragos: Made a do pass as amended motion. 

Rep. Lois Delmore: Second the motion. 

Vote 13-0-1 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: Will carry the bill. 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2125 

Page 1, line 12, after the underscored period insert ""Caretaker" does not include an individual 
who is charged with the enforcement of compulsory attendance provisions under 
section 15.1-20-03." 

Page 1, line 15, after "hours" insert "after the caretaker knows or reasonably should have 
known the child is missing" 

Page 1, line 16, remove "or negligently" 

Page 1 , line 17, replace "immediately" with "within a reasonable time" 

Page 1, line 21, after "hours" insert "after the caretaker knows or reasonably should have 
known the child is missing" 

Page 1, line 21, remove "or negligently" 

Page 1, line 22, replace "immediately" with "within a reasonable time" 

Page 2, line 5, after "caretaker" insert "willfully" 

Renumber accordingly 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2125, as engrossed: Judiciary Committee (Rep. K. Koppelman, Chairman) 

recommends AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends 
DO PASS (13 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). Engrossed SB 2125 
was placed on the Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 12, after the underscored period insert ""Caretaker" does not include an 
individual who is charged with the enforcement of compulsory attendance provisions 
under section 15.1-20-03." 

Page 1, line 15, after "hours" insert "after the caretaker knows or reasonably should have 
known the child is missing" 

Page 1, line 16, remove "or negligently" 

Page 1, line 17, replace "immediately" with "within a reasonable time" 

Page 1, line 21, after "hours" insert "after the caretaker knows or reasonably should have 
known the child is missing" 

Page 1, line 21, remove "or negligently" 

Page 1, line 22, replace "immediately" with "within a reasonable time" 

Page 2, line 5, after "caretaker" insert "willfully" 

Renumber accordingly 
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Senate Bill2125 

Senator Tyler Axness 

Senate Judiciary Committee 

January 16, 2013 

Mr. Chairman, members of the Senate Judiciary Committee: 

ZIZ::S 

For the record, I am Senator Tyler Axness representing District 16 in Fargo and West Fargo and I am to 

here to testify in support of Senate Bill2125. This bill is to create a penalty for a caregiver who willfully 

or negligently does not report a missing child within a twenty four hour time period or the death of a child 

within a two hour time period. 

This is a bill to further protect North Dakota children by allowing the men and women in North Dakota's 

law enforcement the time necessary to do their duty and ensure the safety of our kids. In North Dakota, 

it is illegal to abandon a child, it is illegal to abuse a child, but it is perfectly legal to not report a 

missing child. This bill will change that by helping North Dakota law enforcement keep our kids 

safe. 

Section 1 of the bill establishes a penalty for a caregiver who is unable to make contact or verify the 

whereabouts and safety of a child and willfully or negligently does not report to law enforcement a 

missing child within a twenty four hour time period. The penalty established for not reporting a missing 

child in this section is a Class C Felony which carries with it up to five years in prison, a fine of five 

thousand dollars, or both. 

Section one establishes a twenty four hour time period for reporting a missing child at the 

recommendation of law enforcement in this state. It is agreed the ability of law enforcement to find a 

missing person is greatly enhanced if a report is made within this time frame. 

Section two establishes a penalty for a caregiver who fails to report a child's death and the location of the 

corpse to law enforcement within a two hour time frame of learning of the child's death. The penalty 

established for not reporting the death of a child in the two hour time frame is a Class C Felony with the 

implications I mentioned earlier. 

Section two exempts the reporting requirement if the child's death occurs under the care of health care 

professionals or emergency medical personnel. 

Mr. Chairman in closing, Senate Bill2125 does not cost the state anything if enacted but can potentially 

cost a North Dakota child everything if we fail to act. I believe we have the responsibility as policy 

makers of this great state to ensure we are doing what's in the best interest of our future generations. 

That concludes my testimony for Senate Bill2125 and I will be happy to answer any questions you may 

have. 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2125 

Page 1, after line 7, insert: 

".1. For purposes of this section and section 2 of this Act. "caregiver" means a 
parent, guardian. adult household member. or other individual responsible 
for a child's welfare. 

2." 

Page 1, line 8, after "responsible" insert "at that time" 

Page 1, line 11, remove "For'' 

Page 1, remove l ines 12 and 13 

Renumber accordingly 
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Chairman Houge, Judiciary committee members, and guests, my name is Tim Hathaway and I am the 

Executive Director with Prevent Child Abuse North Dakota. We are a not for profit agency partnering to 

prevent the maltreatment of children in our state for over 30 years. I am testifying today in support of 

SB 2125. 

The children of North Dakota are among our most vulnerable populations. Creating policy that 

ensures swift action by law enforcement and effective prosecutorial tools is essential to their protection. 

After the acquittal of Casey Anthony, who neglected to report her child as missing for 31 days, states 

began looking at legislation that would ensure that this would not happen in their states. Beginning in 

January 2012 states began enacting legislation that criminalized the failure to report a missing or dead 

child. Since September 2012 eleven states had enacted legislation revolving around this issue and an 

additional eight states have filed similar bills. This bill will strengthen the network of policies that 

protect children and hold potential abusers accountable for their actions. I urge you to support SB 2125. 

Thank you for your time today. 
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C a y l e e ' s  Law 

Updated November 16, 2012 

Concerns stemming from the acquittal of Casey Anthony In Florida, following her daughter Caylee's death, have prompted state 

lawmakers to consider legislation. This legislation, often dubbed "Caylee's law," crlminallzes the failure to report a missing or 

dead child. As of September 19, 2012, at least eleven states have enacted legislation, and an additional eight states have filed 

bills: Alabama (1), Illinois (1), Massachusetts (2), Michigan (4), New Jersey (1), New York (4), Ohio (3), and Pennsylvania (1). 

Key points In  the bills Include the qualifying age of a missing or dead child, how long the legal guardian has to report the Incident 

to law enforcement and how the crime Is classified. 

Enacted Legislation 

California Enacted on September 30, 2012, AB 1432 requires a 
Cal. [Penal] Code §273J parent or guardian of a child under a specified age who 
� knows or should have known that the child has died to 

notify a public safety agency within a specified time period 
of the time that the parent or guardian knew or should 
have known that the child has died and to notify law 
enforcement within that same time period of the death or 
that the child Is a missing person. Violation Is a 
misdemeanor. 

ConnectJcut Effective on October 1, 2012, HB 5512 created a Class A 
Conn. Gen Stat. §S3-21a misdemeanor for any parent, guardian, person In custody, 
[P11b!l!:6&tlNI�l or person providing supervision for a child under twelve 

years who knowingly falls to report the disappearance of a 
child, "Disappearance of a chlld11 Is defined as the parent or 
guardian does not know the location of and has not had 
contact with the child for a twenty-four hour period, 

Delaware 1). Signed Into law on May 21, 2012, HB 256 adds falling 
Del. Code Ann. llt. 11 to report a missing child as an act that would make the 
§1102 child "neglected or abused., 
[� and �] 

2.) Approved on September 12, 2012, SB 234 additionally 
modifies a law previously amended by HB 256 that makes 
"endangering the welfare of a child" a class E or G felony 
when a parent, guardian, or any other person who has 
assumed responsibility for the care or supervision of a child 
intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly fails to act, Including 
falling to report a missing child. As a result the child 
becomes "neglected or abused." 

Florida Effective on October 1, 2012, CS/HB 37, creates a criminal 
Fla. Stat. §837 .055 penalty (first degree misdemeanor) for knowingly and 
[Cballler mz-:m willfully giving false Information to mislead a pollee officer's 

Investigation of a missing child. If the child who Is the 
subject of the Investigation suffers great bodily harm, 
permanent disability, permanent disfigurement, or death 
then the crime becomes a third degree felony. 

Illinois Effective January 1, 2013, SB 2537 creates a felony 
Ill. Rev. Stast. Ch. 720 punishable by up to three years In prison and a $25,000 
§5{10-10 fine for falling to report a missing child. The bill requires 
[PyQ!i" All Q27·!0Z21 legal guardians of any missing child thirteen years old or 

younger to notify pollee within twenty-four hours. For 
children two years old or younger must be reported within 
one hour of their disappearance, The bill also crimlnallzes 
the failure to report the death of any child within twelve 
hours. 

Indiana Signed Into law on March 19, 2012, Indiana Senate Bill 262 
Ind. Code §35-44.1-2-3 creates the class B misdemeanor crime of false lnfonnlng 
[llll.ill] for anyone who makes a false report of a missing person, 

knowing the report or Information is false or gives a false 
report concemlng a missing child or endangered adult 
knowing the report or Information to be false. However, 
the offense Is a Class A m isdemeanor If it substantially 
hinders any law enforcement process or If It results In 
harm to an lnn�ent person. 

Kansas Effective on July 1, 2012 HB 2534 crlmlnalizes falling to 
Kan. Stat. Ann. §21- report a missing child, falling to report the death of a child, 
5904 and providing false Information to a pollee officer. 
[� 
(pg 920) 

louisiana 1). Effective August 15, 2012 Act No. 454, criminallzes the 
La. Rev. Stat. Ann. failure of a caretaker to report within two hours of after a 
§§403.3; 403.7; 403.8 period of twenty-four hours where the caretaker does not 
[� and �] know nor has been In contact with a child of thirteen years 

or older. For a child under the age of thirteen the period is 
reduced to twelve hours. The act also makes It a crime for 
a caretaker to fall to report a chtld's death within one hour 
off discovery of the death or teaming the location of the 
body. The act provides for specific penalties. 

2). Effective August 15, 2012 Act No. 446 crlmlnallzes the 
act of Intentionally providing false information to law 
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enforcement concerning a missing child or the recovery of 
a missing child. 

New Jersey Effective immediately upon approval on January 9, 2012, 
N.J. Rev. Stat. §52: 176- Chapter 174 creates a fourth degree felony for a person 
69 with legal custody of a child, 13 years old your younger, 
(� who falls to report the disappearance of that chUd to pollee 

more than 24 hours after becoming aware of the 
disappearance. 

South Dakota Signed Into law on March 16, 2012, South Dakota Senate 
S.D. Code Ann. §22-ll- Bill 43 provides that any parent, legal guardian, or 
37 caretaker who knowingly fails to notify law enforcement 
!Sll..ru Within a specified time frame of leamlng that a child, In his 

or her care and less than 13 years of age, Is missing Is 
guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. Further provides that If 
such persons fall to notify law enforcement within a 
specified time period of learning of the death of a minor 
child In his or her care Is guilty of a felony; exempts health 
care providers and facilities. 

Wisconsin 1). Published on April 4, 2012 AB 263 makes It a crlme to 
Wis. Stat. §973.06; provide fatse Information to a law enforcement officer, or 
948.23 place physical evidence with the Intent to mislead an 
[� and � officer. The person may also be charged with the costs 

incurred by the law enforcement agency during their 
investigation. 

2). Signed into taw on April 9, 2012, Wisconsin Assembly 
Bill 397 creates the crlme of falling to report the death of a 
child, falling to report a missing child, and moving the 
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Pending Legislation 

Alabama 

Illinois 

Massachusetts 

Michigan 

New Jersey 

New York 

Ohio 

Pennsylvania 

Texas 

Sll.l..a!lill 
SB 3432 (2012\ 
HB 376§ (2012\ 
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In addition to criminal concerns, some legislators are considering measures to prohibit participants In a criminal trial from profiting from their experience. Florida HB 51 
LZQli1 for example, would prohibit a juror from requesting or accepting any benefit or compensation related jury service until 270 days after the end of the trial. 

Similar laws already exist In California, Delaware, Louisiana, New York and New Jersey. 

Additionally, concerns have been raised over the potential for defendants to profit from their experiences. "Son of Sam Laws," named for Sam Berkowitz, prevent 

only those found guilty-not those acquitted-from profiting from their crimes. 

Denver Office 

Tel: 303-364-7700 I Fax: 303-364-7800 I 7700 East First Place 1 

Denver, CO 80230 

©2013 National Conference of State Legislatures. All Rights Reserved. 

Washington Office 

Tel: 202-624-5400 1 Fax: 202-737-1069 1 444 North Capitol Street, N.W., Suite 515 I 

Washington, D.C. 20001 

http ://www.ncsl.org/issues-researchfjustice/caylees-law.aspx 1/1 6/20 1 3  



Senate Bil l  21 25 
Senate Judiciary Committee 

January 1 6, 201 2  

Chairman Hogue and members of the committee, I am Annette Bend ish ,  Legal 

Counsel for t he North Dakota School Boards Association (NDSBA). NDSBA supports 

the spirit of Senate Bill 2125, however, we have concerns that the scope of this bill 

would include school district personnel and would create an undue burden due to the 

twenty-four hour time period. 

The definition of caregiver in this bill includes "other individual responsible for a 

child's welfare." Each day, schools are responsible for the care and welfare of children. 

School districts already have a responsibility to require school attendance under 

Chapter 15.1-20 and have a duty to report to local law enforcement if a student is not 

meeting attendance requirements. 

The language of Senate Bill 2125 creates practical concerns for teachers and 

administrators. If a student is absent for one school day and the teacher or administrator 

is unable to verify the w hereabouts of that student until the next school day, the teacher 

or administrator would have to report the student as missing to law enforcement. If the 

report was not made, the teacher or administrator would be guilty of a class C felony. 

Section 15.1-20-03 already charges each teacher and administrator with 

enforcement of compulsory attendance provisions. If a teacher determines that a 

student is not in attendance as required by the law and that the student has not been 

excused in accordance with law or the school district's policies, the teacher must notify 

the administrator of the school. When an administrator is informed about a student's 

absence, the administrator is required to initiate an investigation into the reason for the 

absence. If the administrator has reason to believe that the person having responsibility 

for the student has failed to ensure that the student is in attendance, the administrator 

shall refer the matter to the local law enforcement agency. Any person who fails to 

Page 1 



ensure that a student is in attendance as required by the current law is subject to a 

penalty. 

To address our concerns with this b ill we have drafted a proposed amendment 

that provides an exemption for teachers and administrators that are charged with the 

enforcement of the compulsory attendance provisions under existing law. 

This concludes my testimony, I am happy to answer any questions you may 

have. 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO SB 2 1 25 

Page 1 ,  Line 13, after "welfare" insert "that is not charged with enforcement of 
compulsory attendance provisions under section 15.1-20-03" 

Renumber accodringly 
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Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for dJI?!l�tt�� tt. 
Senator Lyson 

February 13, 2013 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2125 

Page 1, after line 7, insert: 

".1.:. For purposes of this section and section 2 of this Act. "caretaker" means 
the individual who is responsible for the physical control of a child and who 
is the child's biological or adoptive parent. the spouse of the child's 
biological or adoptive parent. or an individual acting in the stead of a child's 
parent at the request of the parent or another with authority to make the 
request. 

Page 1, line 8, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker" 

Page 1 , line 8, after "responsible" insert "at that time" 

Page 1, line 8, after "child" insert "under the age of thirteen years" 

Page 1, line 10, replace "caregiver" with "caretaker" 

Page 1, line 11, remove "For" 

Page 1, replace lines 12 and 13 with: 

"3. A caretaker who is responsible at that time for the care of a child at least 
thirteen years of age but under the age of seventeen years and who is 
unable to make contact with or otherwise verify the whereabouts and 
safety of that child for a period of forty-eight hours is guilty of a class B 
misdemeanor if the caretaker willfully or negligently fails to report the child 
as missing to law enforcement immediately after the forty-eight-hour period 
expires. " 

Page 1 ,  line 17, replace the first "caregiver" with "caretaker" 

Page 1 , line 17, replace "caregiver's" with "caretaker's" 

Page 1, line 17, replace the second "caregiver'' with "caretaker" 

Renumber accordingly 
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Senator Tyler Axness 

House Judiciary Committee 

April 2, 20 1 3  

Mr. Chairman, members of the House Judiciary Comm ittee: 

For the record, I am Senator Tyler Axness representing District 1 6  in Fargo and West Fargo and I am here 

to testify in support of Senate Bil l  2 1 25 .  This bill is to create a penalty for a caretaker who wi II ful ly or 

negligently does not report a missing child or the death of a child within a defined time frame. 

SB 2 1 25 is intended to further protect North Dakota children by allowing the men and women in North 

Dakota's law enforcement the time necessary to do their duty and ensure the safety of our kids. In North 

Dakota, it is illegal to abandon a child, it is illegal to abuse a child, but it is perfectly legal to not 

report a missing child. This bill will close that loophole and provide another mechanism for law 

enforcement to keep our kids safe. 

Engrossed Senate Bill 2 1 25 comes to this committee as a collaborative effort between elected 

officials, law enforcement, attorneys, and advocates who help those who have been abused or 

neglected. I'd like to briefly guide you through each section of the bill and attempt to answer any 

questions you may have. 

Section 1 subsection 1 defines the term caretaker as an individual who is responsible for the 

physical control of a child. 

Section 1 subsection 2 of the bil l  establishes a penalty for a caretaker who is unable to make contact or 

verify the whereabouts and safety of a child and wil lfully or negligently does not report to law 

enforcement a missing child who is under the age of thirteen within a twenty four hour time period. The 

penalty established for not reporting under this section is a C lass C Felony which carries with it up to five 

years in prison, a fine of five thousand dol lars, or both . 

The twenty four hour time period for reporting a missing child comes at the recommendation of law 

enforcement in this state. It is agreed the ability of law enforcement to find a missing person is greatly 

enhanced if a report is  made within this time frame. 

Subsection 3 states that if a caretaker negligently or wil lfully fails to report a child missing between the 

ages of 1 3  and 1 7  and having no contact within 48 hours will be charged with a class B m isdemeanor 

which carries with it a penalty of up to thirty days in prison, a one thousand dollar fine, or both. The 

reason for this change is the fact that kids are more independent and active at this time, making it more 

difficult for a caretaker to instantly make contact with the child. This section allows for more flexibil ity. 

(Over) 



Section 2 establishes a penalty for a caretaker who fails to report a child's death and the location of the 

deceased to law enforcement within a two hour time frame of learning of the child's death. The penalty 

established for not reporting the death of a child in the two hour time frame is a Class C Felony with the 

implications I mentioned earlier. 

Subsection 2 exempts the reporting requirement if the child's death occurs under the care of health care 

professionals or emergency medical personnel. 

Mr. Chairman in closing, Senate Bill2125 does not cost the state anything if enacted but can potentially 

cost a North Dakota child everything if we fail to act. This session we've talked a lot about protecting 

children. SB 2125 is an additional protection in this state. 

I believe we have the responsibility as policy makers of this great state to ensure we are doing what's in 

the best interest of our future and for our state's children. 

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my testimony for Senate Bill2125, I urge your favorable recommendation, 

and I will be happy to answer any questions you may have. 
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Location: 
CRIME AND CRIMINALS ;  JUVENILES - LEGISLATION ; 

s t;; .)cope : 
Other States laws/regulations; 

..,..... ... , ' 

M arch 1 9 ,  2 0 1 2  2 0 1 2 -R-0 1 30 

(Revised) 

"CAYLEE'S LAW " :  LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES 

By : Mark Randall, Re se arch Fellow 

Hendrik deBoer,  Re se arch Fellow 

You aske d for { 1 )  a summary of passe d or proposed legislation in other state s in 

re sponse to th e re sult of the C aylee Anthony case an d { 2 )  policy arguments for and 
against these 1ne asure s .  

SUM M ARY 

At least 3 5  states are con sidering or have con sidered legislation in re sponse to the 
highly publicized de ath of C ayJee· Anthony, ofte n called "Cayl e e ' s  Law."  New Je rsey so 
far is the only state to have e n acted a ve rsion of "Caylee ' s  Law."  The Florida 
legislature has re ce ntly passed le gislation that is pending gove rnor approval . 

The n1odel statute is named after Caylee Anthony, a Florida toddler whose de ath 

be came nationwide news . C asey Anthony, Cayle e ' s  mother,  faile d to report her 

daughte r missing for more than a month and the child' s body was discovered near 

the Anthony h ome several months late r. Afte r giving several fabricate d explanation s ,  
M s .  Anthony admitte d th at she had known about Cayle e ' s  de ath an d disposed o f  the 

body . After a high-profile trial , M s .  Anthony was acquitte d of 1 st de gre e murde r and 
:e late d fe lony charges;  she was convicted on four misde mean or counts of providing 
false information to the police . 

The "not guilty" ve rdict shocked and ange re d many who h ad b e e n  following the case 
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an u pruu uce u a gru u n a s w e u  UI I e gislauve proposals cnaL w u u 1 u  Cl lllHU ClllZ-e a _tJctl e u L ::; 
failure to report the disappe arance or de ath of a child . The volume of bill filings i s  
partly due to a well-organized,  online petition campaign urging le gislators to pass 
C aylee ' s  Law. As of July 2 0 1 1 ,  it was reporte d that more than 1 . 5 million pe ople h ad 
signe d  the petition . 

Policymakers are divided in the ir support of such le gislation . Propone nts argue that 
the law is nee ded to make pare nts act more re spon sibly by holding them accoun table 
for failing to re port their child rnissing or de ad .  Some prosecutors h ave indicate d that 

such laws would give the m  another tool to protect vulne rable childre n .  

Oppon e nts conten d  that the b ill is unnece ssary be cause a parent' s failure to ( 1 ) act 

to prote ct the health and safety of his or her child and (2)  notify the authoritie s about 

a de ath or the location of a dead body are alre ady crime s in most state s .  Moreove r ,  
some me mbe rs o f  law enforce ment have warne d  that ill-considered laws o n  re portin g 

missing children risk punishing the innocent and tying the police up with 

inve stigations of missing child case s where no foul play was suspecte d .  

ENACTED LAW 

New Jersey 

In 2 0 1 1 , New Jersey be came the first state to e n act a version of Cayle e ' s  Law. The law 

re quire s  the p are nt,  le gal guardian , or custodian of a child under age 1 4  to re port the 

child' s  disappe arance within 24 hours of the time the pare nt knew or should h ave 

known that the child was 1nissing. It make s failure to do so a crime of the 4th degre e , 
punishable by imprisonment for up to 1 8  months ,  a fine of up to $ 1 0 , 000 , or both 
( P . L .  2 0 1 1 , ch . 1 74 ,  codified a t NJ SA § 2c: 1 2 - 1 . 3) .  

The law also incre ased the penalty, from a misdemeanor to felony,  for violatin g  the 
state law that prohibits a pe rson from willfully failing or re fusing to notify authoritie s 

of any de ath . 

Florida 

Pe nding the g ove rn or' s signature , Florida will become the second state to e n act a 
ve rsion of Caylee ' s  Law. Its new law make s it a crime to knowingly and willfully give 
false information to misle ad a police office r' s inve stigation of a missing child . If the 

child who is the subj ect of the inve stigation suffe rs gre at bodily h arm , permanent 

disability, permanent disfigure me nt, or de ath , the pe rson commits a third degre e 
felony, punishable by impri sonment up to five ye ars or a fine up to $ 5 ,000 . 
Otherwise , the pe rson commits a first de gree misdemean or,  punishable by 
impri sonme nt up to one year or a maximum $ 1 ,000 fine (House Bill 37) . 
PROPOSED LEGISLATION 
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4/2/13 "CAYLEE'S LAW': LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES 

Based o n  information from the N ational Conference of S tate Legislature s (NCSL) and 
media re ports , legislators in at le ast 35 state s have proposed C ayle e ' s  Law legislation .  
M any state s are con sidering multiple bills. While all deal ge ne rally with the issue s 
.iddre ssed in C ayle e ' s  Law, the re is con siderable variation among the m .  For example , 
propose d laws vary in the age range of children cove re d ,  the time period within which 
a pare n t  must report the child' s de ath or disappearance , and the penalty for failing to 
do so . 

Table 1 be low provide s information on a re pre sentative sample of the pending bill s .  
Where a state has more than one bill pending,  we selecte d  tho se that were farthe st 
along in the legislative proce ss.  

It  shows , where app licable , 

1 .  the le gislative citation ;  

2 .  the age s of childre n cove re d ;  

3 .  reportable events;  

4.  reporting deadline s ;  

5 .  penal tie s ;  and 

6 .  note s on sign ificant aspe cts of the legislatio n ,  including provi sions that apply whe n  
a pare n t  o r  guardian. give s false information to the police . 

Table 1: Proposed State Legislation 
. ·-- - - --- - ·=:.::..:..., ----------· ··-------- ----- -------------------·····-·-- ·--· -

-- --=1 I [ i l I �� · I . .  _ - -�t�'.e I Cite ; _ _ _ __ A�� _
_

__ j �:���:b�� ��:-�_] �e��nin� -�eadl�nj i__ Pen a It� __ ! I __ __ _:_::::::_:�-- _ - ----· 

Alabama Under age 1 3  l Disappearance I Within 1 2  hours : I class B felony, [ Applies when child 

; 1 ! punishable by ; suffers great bodily 

; 
. Under age 1 3  , · Disappearance 

I : ifll)risonment for ; harm, permanent 
! i between one year disability, or 

' and two days and 20 disfigurement while 
! years, a fine of up to missing 
i $30,000, or both 

. -· ... · - - ·: j ____ - --- - -- -
I 
I Within 24 hours 
l 
I 
I 
l 
I 

i 
Class C felony , 

' punishable by ' I imprisonment for 
1 between one year land one day and 1 0  !years, a fine up to 
$1 5,000 , or both 
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Under age 1 3 Disappearance \Mthin 1 2  hours Class A 
misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonmentfor up 
to one year, a tine of 
up to $6,000, or both 

i 
Under age 1 3 Death / location of \Mthin One hour 

I 
Class C felony i Applies when death 

body 
! i l 

occurs while in parent • 
or guardian's care 

; 
:�- :.-;;;;;;.:.-;;;;;;.=.;;;;.· ·;;;.;;;·"..;;_· ;;;;;.;··--;;...;;· =� F======.O::.: �'"c;;;;'";;;;;."";,;;;;"":.;;;;;· · ·;,;;;; .. ·;;;:;···;;...;;· .. · ·;;;::;· · .. :;:.;,· ..  ;:;:.· ';,;;;;""-".; . ..... ......... .. ....... ...... ...... ··:======"'- ;;;;;··..;;_·· ;;;;:;·· .. :.;;;;;· · ·..;;_· .. = ... =;;;;.;..;._;..;=o;; ; I 
! ! Arizona Under age 6 Disappearance: \Mthin 24 hours of ! Class 5 felony, 

: punishable by 

: 
i 

Parent must report if knowledge 
he or she believes 
that child is victim of 
physical injury I 

Death Unspecified 
I 
1 Under age 1 8  

, imprisonment with a 
, presumptive term of 
i 1 8  months 
! 

! Class 6 felony, 11 punishable by 
imprisonment with a 

, presumptive term of 
; one year 

�=�····=· ··· �===� �=====� �=====······=······· ·�····· r·· ==��=�� r==�=..;;_=· · · ···�. ····· �1, i..;;_···�······�··=···�·····==;;;;.;..;...;;_······· 

; California Under age 1 4  Disappearance \Mthin 24 hours ' Misdemeanor, 
' 

Under age 1 4  Death or 
disappearance 
under circumstances 
where a crime may 
have occurred or 

i 
i 

the child may be in , 
danger 

' 

\Mthin 24 hours 

i punishable by 1 
imprisonment for up 
to six months, a fine 
of up to $1 ,000, or 
both 

. 

Misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for up : 
to one year, a fine up I 
to $2,000, or both i 

I ; 
�==;.;.:..�· .. ·· · ····=········· ··=·· ·· .. c:;;c······;::.;c·······:::=;;,····· �····;;;.;;.··· ··�····=====:::-;;.c.:====�."-..c.oi rr. .. :.:..·=· ::..c.·::::.;··· ·;;;.;;.::::.;····· ·:.:..c··· · ·c·· .. :::.··�.::.=.:c.;;.:..='-�·=-';.;_...:.:_:;;__;.'-"-:::.: ;.:;:.....:....:_;.;;_;.;_c:.._:.....:.:.. .. c._. __ c. 

I Delaware Under age 1 8  Disappearance :I Unspecified If the child dies: , j , 
, E felony, punishable . 1 

by imprisonment up 

I 
I 

to five years 

If the child suffers a 
: serious physical 
: injury or is sexually 

' 
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l 
i 

! 
1 U nder age 1 3  

! 
I 

"CAYLEE'S LAW': LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES 

; 
' Disappearance 

i i Within 1 8  hours 

assaulted: Class G 
felony, punishable by 
imprisonment up to 
two years 

Otherwise: Class A 
misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment up to 
one year, or a iine 
up to $2,300 

Punishable by 
imprisonment 
between one and ten 
years 

��========�======��========��========��L-==·--�========\ 

: 

i 
! 
i 

I ; U nder age 1 6  
I 
i 
! 

Death Within 1 2  hours Punishable by 
imprisonment 
between one and ten 
years or  a fine 
between $ 1 ,000 and 
$5,000 

j 
Not applicable when I the death occurs in a 
hospice or under the i 
care of a physician 

I 

I I :F•• _ ..... _ ...... _____ ·······-- -r:
der
::�:: 

I
::::D=is=ap=p=ea

=
r=an=c=e=���

� 

�:,::� possiDre I ����btb�: ' (SB2485) t imprisonment up to 
! ! ;:::::::..:··-=···::::· ==··=- ::::··=;·J '-· .. .. - ;:::'--=·-=- ===== five years or a fine 
: ! 

i Under age 1 8  Death As soon as up to $ 1 0,000 

: 1 reasonably possible 

! �======== 
I 

Under age 1 8  

i 

I i 

! I 

Not specified 

; [_ ... -· . ··-···-"-'·"'"'"' -'"""-""' """'""-'" ;;.;.." �= ... =·· ·� ;::.· .. =· · �=-··=···=· """""' ==· ..:.::;; J . ........ ... .. , ... . ' ............. .. 

Not specified 

1 i 

L.. 

Applies when the 
parent or guardian 
knowingly, 
intentionally , or 

1 willfully gives false 
! information to the 
' police 
i 
; 

l 

: j lllinois ! Under age 1 3  Disappearance or 
death 

Within 24 hours Class 4 felony, l Parent or guardian 
punishable by i must reasonably 

i 
i 

i 
i 
! 
. 

i 
I 

; ( H B  3804} 

I 
imprisonment believe child is 
between one and i missing, dead, or that · 

I . ,  I I 
I 

i three years, a iine of death of child was 
! up to $25,000, or caused by homicide, . 
i both acciden� or other 
i! 1 suspicious : 

circumstances 
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V I IU\::1 d!:JI:: t.. 1 1-'l::>df-'f-'l::dl dl lvt: u1 

I death 
VVIU I il l Ul lt: I IUUI I 

i 

��·�-�·�·· �=· ··�·· ·�·,Lr��- ��- ���� �����-�· ··�· ��·�· I , 
Under age 1 3  i Not specified 

I 
Not specified 

· VOI I I'V  VII VU I I I;:Ilai iVt;\J 

I as above 

Applies when parent 
of guardian gives 
false information to 
police 

r��··�- ����� r� · �· ·- �· ·�- ��··· ·�-- ��· · -1; ��·�· �· ··���-� ������= r���-�·��.��-��- �.-�·· .�· ��-�-�-�-·--

Illinois Under age 1 2  

(SB 2537} 

Under age 1 2  

Iowa ' Under age 1 3 

(HF 2253} 

Under age 1 3 

·········· ····· 
Under age 1 3 

I Death or 
I disappearance 

Not specified 

Disappearance 

In a timely manner 

Not specified 

Reckless failure to 
make contact or verify 
whereabouts within 
24 hours 

I 
: I 

Class 3 felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment 
between two and five 
years, a fine up to 
$25,000, or both 

Class 3 felony 

Class B felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for up 
to 25 years 

Class C felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for up  
to 1 0  years and a 
fine ofbetween 
$1 ,000 and $10,000 

' • ····· ··· 
I ; Aggravated 
: misdemeanor, 
: punishable by 
, imprisonment for up  
; to two years and a : 
: fine of between $625 ' ; . • and $6,250 : 

Applies when parent 
or guardian knows 
that child is missing 
and knew or 
reasonably should 
have known child in 
potential danger of 
death or serious 
injury 

Applies when parent 
or guardian gives 
false or misleading 
information to police 
and includes willfully 
touching, removing, 
or disturbing the 
evidence 

Applies when child 
found dead or died 
from injuries sustained 
while missing 

Applies when child 
suffers serious injury 

Applies when child 
suffers no injury 

. 
' ········ ······· .··· · ·· .. .. . . · ·· ·· · ·  I f  
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Under age 1 3  
"CAYLEE'S LAW': LEGISLATION I N  OTHER STATES 

Disappearance Failure to make 
contact or verify 
whereabouts wi1hin 
24 hours 

! iclass C felony Applies when child 
found dead or died 
fi"om injuries sustained ·  
while missing 

;�==:::=::; 
l Under age 13  

I ��==========��==�-=-==-==-=-�-� 
I 
1 Class D felony, I punishable by 
I imprisonment for up 
I to five years and a 
i fine of bei.ween $750 
i and $7,500 
t 

Applies when child 
suffers serious injury 

i L======::::; ;:::-::::.:···::;::·-·;::;:· =··==·-;;;;;:···-:::;::· =··· 
p-

: Under age 1 3  
i 
I s  ' ; enous 
l misdemeanor, 
I punishable by 

.. !.I I imprisonment for up 
I to one year and a 

' .. ____ ___ jl;==· =- =··=· =···=--=·· =::::.; ;::::=··=··=·· ===·-"'""::::;1 ��� �����n $31 5 

: I 
U nder age 1 3  i Disappearance 

I 
! Wi1hin 24 hours l Serious 

misdemeanor 

Applies when child 
suffers no injury 

Applies when parent : 
or guardian fails to 
make contact or verify 
whereabouts and 
safety of child I :;::;�·;.:.;.�;;;;;;;::;;;;;;;:=:;::;;4,):::===::::=,=: un�:,�ge ;3 � �o��:ar:: -- ��

P
=
ro

;;;;;;;

mp

;;.:.;.;;:;

uy

====� ���::��vF;
y ,  

Must be  wi1h 1he intent · 
to conceal ano1her ' 
crime 

U nder age 1 8  

l 
: 

I 

I imprisonment up to 1 23 mon1hs, a fine up J 1 to $ 1 00,000, or bo1h ' I 
·-· .. : ;:::·-:;;;;;·�:;;;;;;";:::::':::::::'";;;:;,"'';;;;;;"·:::::::···=·=·=·=-·:::;-l�=====�:=======.;r=l.-=··=-=···=··==·=····=··=· 1 : 

Death ; PrompUy 
i 

Failure by a parent to i 
report Severity level · i 
8, nonperson felony i 

I Failure by person : 
otherwise required to ! 
report ' 

/ i i Class B nonperson ! 
misdemeanor, ; i punishable by 1 
imprisonment up to i \ six months, a fine up ; 
to $1 ,000, or both . 

• 
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Kentucky 

Louisiana 

(SB75) 

! V I IUO::I Q\:jO:: l v  

Under age 1 3 

I V l l::>po::vmo::u 
l 

I 

Disappearance 

••-••

·

-w-••••�•w•• ' '  ,, ''"" •• .. ,, .,, .. , .. • 

Between ages 1 4  
and 1 7  

, Under age 1 8  

I 
i Disappearance I 

Witi1in 1 4  hours 

) VV V VI IlJ IV V VI v1 

1 nonperson felony 

i 
; If ti1e child is found 
' dead: Punishable by 

imprisonment 
: between two and 50 
. years or a fine up to 
: $50,000 
1 
' 

: If ti1e child is missing 
: more ti1an six 
, monti1s, but not dead : 
· Punishable by 

imprisonment 
, between two and 1 0  : 
. years or a fine up to 
$25,000 

' If ti1e child is 
' physically or sexually 

abused: Punishable 
, by imprisonment up 
: to  10 years or a fine 
. up to $10 ,000 

If U1e child is 
unharmed: 
Punishable by 
imprisonment up  to 

l six monti1s, a fine up 

. ... . l . . . 
to $500, or boti1 · · · · ._:::__ 

i :�in 26 hour:-rove J .. _:...........:.;...;_ . ..;.___.;;_........:..;__ 

�� • Witi1in one hour 
I 
i 

• Punishable by 
: imprisonment up to 
' 
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, Under age 1 8  

"CAYLEE'S LAW': LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES 

I ' !five years and a fine 
)

�=--------=-
- - - J � l:

b

=·
=

$5

=

,0

=

00
==

:::::::;
··
�:==..===:=== 

I Unspecified ! Punishable by J Applies when parent . Unspecified 

; 

1 I imprisonment up to \ of guardian gives ! five years i false information to 
I police 
I 

. . . .. .... . .. . . . . ... .. ..... .- . .... .. J 1... ·····•· . ,,,.,.,=,···"·=·······==,·==· 
---------·-·--------------·-----·---�! !- -- - ------:�---- --- ------l ------� �- ----

Maine ; Under age 1 8  Disappearance I Within 24 hours i Class C crime, : Must know that the 
. I . punishable by ! child is missing and 

( LD 1 633) . j 1 ' imprisonment up to : know or reasonably 
: . i I five years or a fine ·rhould know that that 

' ; ' i : : danger 
i , I ,[up to $5,000 : child is potentially in 

1 .. ' ....... ·- .. .. -� .. .. . ... ! �--- ' .. � .. - - - - .. ----�� L-.. �----- .... ----- --- _____ j -- ·---- .. - - _____ ; .... .. .. .. .... .. I n

1

e

634) 

l Under age 1 3  ! Disappearance Wfuin 48 hours J l��:�-J � Un��g: 1 8

-lD \\ihin �-hours - C�ss C crirre 
_ _ _ _ _ __ _ 

! Iunder age 1 8  ; Unspecified I Unspecified ;;:.:
C
=
Ia
=
s
=
s
=
C
=
c
=
ri
=
me
===� ��

A
=
pp
=
li
=
es
=
w
=
h
=
e
=
n
::::::
p
=
a
=
re
=
n
=
t 

' ' I i of guardian gives l1, 1_ !... false information to 
police with the intent 1 : the intent to mislead 

' I i 
I ���;:;yo�:�ede 

j [ _ . _ 

. J [ _

_
_ 

.

JL 
_ _ _ 

L . . . 
_ _ _ _ . .. � investigation 

-··-·-·-····---··---------------, ·--·----·---------·-·--; -------------� ,.....---·--------------! ---------; ----------·----

Maryland \ Under age 1 3  : D isappearance Within 24 hours l Felony punishable 
(881 39) 

1 I by imprisonment up ! � i to 1 0  years, a fine up ' 
i to $1 0,000, or both i 
i i .=:c:=;:;;,__;=:::::··::,:· - ·:.::;;,·--=,- .... ... .. .. ........... _., - . ...... .. J ... . ....... .. .... . ·---·-

l::··-.· ... 
risappearan�e ! Within 48 hours ! !Misdemeanor, 

. I punishable by 
:. I, ! imprisonment up to 

i five years, a fine up 
i to  $5,000, or both 

' I ' i l 

: Only if ( 1 )  the child 
suffers from a mental 

' or physical handicap, 
(2) the disappearance 

, is of a suspicious or . 
, dangerous na1ure , (3) 
· there is reason to 
believe the child has 
been abducied, or (4) 
the child has 
!previously been 
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1!;...::1 ==;.:;.;.;·=·w .. ;.:;.;.;· .. =:l;..;;;;l ;.:;.;.;;.:;.;.;.:;.;.;;.:;.;.;.:;:;-- ·= .... ;.:;.;.;· .::..::;· J l . .  
i I Under age 1 8  
i i 
I 

Dea1h 

Unspecified 

Wi1hin one hour 

Unspecified 

Felony punishable 
by imprisonment up 
to 10 years, a flne up 
to $ 10,000, or bo1h 

Felony punishable Applies when parent ' 
by imprisonment up of guardian gives 

I to 1 0  years, a fine up false information to 
to $1 0,000, or bo1h police 

�····==·············�··········��.,==···==····====��==========�r····�··==··········=·······�···��=�������==����� ··· · ········· ········ ���"�===�=� 

Massachusetls Under age 1 7  

(HB 3905) 

Under age 1 7  

. .. . .. ... . .... . . ... . .  

Michigan Under 1 3  years 

(SB 580) 

Disappearance Vvhen whereabouts I Punishable by 
unknown for 48 hours I imprisonment for of ' up to five years 

Dea1h Wi1hin one hour of 
occurrence 

I 

Punishable by ( 1 )  
imprisonment for u p  
to five years or (2) a 
fine of up to $10,000 

1 including 
1 imprisonment for up 
i to one and a half 
, years 
: 

· '  . ... . . . . .. . �===·= .. ·�··-�· .. �;;;;;=;;;;;;;;;;·:-' �=���-�--;;;;;.... ;_; _____ . --· ·-··c..-· -
! 

Disappearance Vvhen no contact or 
knowledge of 
whereabouts for 24 
hours 

Felony, punishable 

I by imprisonment for 
up to two years, or a 

: fine of up to $5,000 i 

Provides affirmative 
defenses 

! ;.:.:..:..· ;;;;.;· ·= .... ... ·=·· ·= ··= '"'· ==" "";::.;;· ;::.;; ..... �·- r:·=···=··-=·-=· ";:;:"'""::;_' ' ;;;::··;:;:··-.. ==:; ..... .. . .... . ... .. . .. . . .... . ... ... ... .. L-� ... ·= .... . . . :;;;;; . .. ===____:;;· �· ·:;;;;;· ·=·";";.: ==·= .. ·=· ·=· =-- .::.:;·--·...;; ;:;..=====- === 

I 
Mississippi Under age 1 4  Dea1h 1 Wi1hin 24 hours 

(HB126) 
I 

i 

Circumstances 1hat 
would lead a 
reasonable person to 
believe 1hat 1he dea1h 
occurred as a result 
of a crime: Felony 
punishable by 

; imprisonment : 
:I between one and five ! 
, years and a fine of at ; 
1 least $5,000 ; 

01herwise: 
Misdemeanor 
punishable by 
imprisonment 

. between 30 days 

! 
. 

l 
; 
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I 

I 
; i 

' 

I 

"CAYLEE'S LAW': LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES 

D isappearance Within 24 hours 
' 

Circums1ances that i 
would lead a l 
reasonable person to 1 
believe that the child l 
was in d anger of I 
physical danger: ! 
Felony punishable 
by imprisonment 
between one and five! 
years and a 1ine of at I 
least $5,000 ! 
Otherwise: 
Misdemeanor 
punishable by 
imprisonment 
between 30 days 
and one year and 
1ine of $1 ,000 

I 

I I i �==========��========� �========��==========��=--=-·=---=====-==-���==========� 
i 

Missouri 

. (HB1 1 67} 

1 Under age 1 7  Disappearance 

I 
! 

I 

Within 24 hours If death or serious 
injury occurs: Class 
B felony , punishable 
by imprisonment 
between five and 1 5  
years 

Otherwise: Class A 
misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment up to 

l one year or a fine up '�======· --==� �========� �========��to=$=1 =,00=0======� �===·=-===···==�=---�­
i 

; Under age 1 7  
i 

: Death ! 

i 

! Within one hour Class D felony, 
punishable by 
imprison ment up to 
four years or a fine 

i up to $5,000 I ._:_:_c:;;_;__.:.;;;:--·:·_;;; · ::::;.-- · ::_· .:.::=c.::.,·· r==.: -- - ... .... . . J;_. =-:::.:::=·:.:::.· · --:;:_;_· :.::;,· ---::::::.-··=----=·=- =--'; F:=--·--:;;;-- ·".:::;;;:_:::" -- :::;;;:_:::==�...::.-=·--� .. ..... . ... .. .... .. he��aska , Under age 1 3 l Disappearance or l Within 72 hours of 

I. I death ' knowledge 
(LB 1 1 69) i j i 

Class 4 felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for up 
to five years, a fine 
up to $ 10,000, or 

Provides affirmative 
defenses 

both · 

....... .. ............. · · · ··· ;:.==· - ---=· - -- ---�- - - - =·- - ;[ _ _ _ _ _  _ i [  
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l 'i VVY I IOI I IjJVI III "G 

(SB271 ) 

... . .... . .... . 

New Mexico 

(SB1 3} 

New York 

(AB 596) 

New York 

(AB936) 

Ohio 

i I 

! misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment up to 
one year or a fine up 
to $2,000 

ir

·

�

·
··
·

····�

··

··

·

· ·�
·
· ����

·

' �·������ ������� ����·�··�····�·····�···· �����·�····� I 

' 
l 
' i 

! 
i 

Under age 1 2  ! Dealh \fvilhin 1 2  hours Class A 
misdemeanor 

... . ·

·

·

·

· · ········ · i .. . 
r�

�

�����r���·�···�···�····��. r-,���----�� 

Under age 1 8  

Under age 1 8  

Under age 1 8  

·· �-·� 

Under age 1 8  

Under age 1 7  

l 
! i Disappearance 
I I I i I 
; 
j i 

I \fvilhin 24 hours 
! I I l 

Misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment 
between six monlhs 
and one year or a 
fine up to $1 ,000 

I I 
.• J ............... . . .... ..... ' '" • .  J '"'''''"'' .. . ,.,, •. '

· "' '' ... , .• .) """" "' 
·
•··· 

'" ... . 

Dealh i \fvilhin one hour Misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment 
between six monlhs 
and one year or a 
fine up to $1 ,000 

n •·•···<• • ' �� "''"�

··

· .liM n 
-----·--·-

l Not required if lhe 
dealh occurred under ; 
lhe care of a heallh 
care professional or 
emergency medical 
personnel 

· 
.. 

··· . .. ... L.. .. ... ... .. ··· ··········· ... .. . .......... 

· ·····-· 

Disappearance or 
dealh 

.. .. .. .. . ....... , .. ''"''' ' 

Disappearance or 
dealh 

D isappearance 

\fvilhin 24 hours 

... . ··-· 

\fvilhin 24 hours 

\fvilhin one hour of 
knowledge 

Class D felony, Failure to report must 
punishable by be knowing or 
imprisonment for up intentional 
to seven years, a fine 
of up to $5,000, or 
bolh 

Class E felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for up 
to four years, or a 
fine of u p  to $5,000, 
or bolh 

Not required to report 
dealh if child is under 
lhe care of a heallh 
care professional or 
emergency medical 
personnel 

Felony of lhe 2nd Applies if child is 
degree, punishable harmed 
by imprisonment 
between two and Applies if child is 
eight years, a fine up unharmed 
to $ 1 5 ,000 fine, or 
bolh 

Felony oflhe 3rd 
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: 

"CAYLEE'S LAW': LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES 
\ 
j 

:
.

. 

1111
,

· 

! 
degree, punishable 
by imprisonment 
between nine and 36 
monfhs, a fine of up to 
$10 ,000, or bofh 

;;;;;;;;;;;;;:====:;; " "' ... . .. ......... - - . .......... .1 �-=······:::::;···· ·;;::;;·· :;:;:······=·····===� ,F::.:=:·===== 

: i 1 knowledge 
I I 

Felony offhe 3rd 
degree - - '::f __ 

n�

-

e

_

-

_

r a

·
-

ge

·

1

--

7 ��Dea
� �

in one hour of 

;:::::: 
.

. -.=--
·
-=
· "'

=
'"'

'
'
=
'

'

"'

:;_;;
'
" " 

·
=
·
··=--

.
..

. 

=-- ·

-

·
=
--
--
·-
=

·
·
··=, 

....... .. . �.J ''

'

'

'

'""'

'

' '"'"'''' ...... � ................ J:=======j�====:::::;;:c======::;·--' 

Ohio 

(SB203) 

I 

Oklahoma 

(SB1 72 1 )  

...
.
.... . .  -· 

Oregon 

(HB4048) 

I 

Under age 1 8  Disappearance 

\ 

! Under age 1 6  Disappearance 

......... ........... . 

I Under age 1 6  Deafh 

i 
i 

; Under age 1 2  Disappearance 

: ; 

i 

Child under age 1 3: 
wifhin 24 hours 

Child age 13 to 1
7

: 

\ 
I tt child is harmed: \ felony of fhe 2nd 
I degree 
! 
I wifhin 48 hours i If child is unharmed: 

VVifhin 48 hours of 
knowledge 

As soon as 
reasonably possible 

I felony of the 3rd 
i degree 
I 

Felony , punishable 
by imprisonment for 
up to 1 0  years 

Felony , punishable 
by imprisonmentfor 
up to 10 years 

L,_. 

i VVifhin 24 hours Class C felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment up to 
five years, or a fine 
up to $1 25,000, or 
bofh 

I I 
I I I � .. _;_ . .  :·.:___;__::..::=.::.:.;::_::.:;_;_.::::; '--·· ..... , . ..... ... . .. ..... ... .. ....... .... .< ...... .... .... ... . .. 

Under age 1 2  • Deafh I �in 24 hours 
� I 

I 
I I ! ' ' 

········· . . . .  • .•. . ... . . . .  - ..... . ··� .........•. 1 

IFfh I ' 
! Not specified 

Class C felony 

J 

( Felony in fhe 3rd 
I 

Applies if child is 
harmed 

Applies if child is 
unharmed 

Also prohibits parent 
or guardian lfom 
concealing the deafh 
or disappearance of a 
child 

l 

·
·
- �· -- ' 

Must be under 
circumstances fhat 
would cause a 

i reasonable person to ' 
believe fhat fhe child is 
in danger of physical 
harm 

Must be under 
circumstances which 

' would cause a 
i reasonable person to . 
' believe fhat fhe deafh 
1 was a result of a crime 
I 

�r=ro=h;.:.;_ib_;_:.ils;_;_p;_;_a.:;.;.re=nt.;_lf.:;.;.o;_;;.m.:;._ 
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I i by lmpr
·
i�onment for 

II : up to seven years 

---- - - - - --- - - - - ---- --- - ------ - - - - ---- ·---·-·-· ;.;;;.;__.;_.;_.;_ ----· ·c· ..;; =·=· =· · =·····..;;c· · · ..;;c· ·::.::::;J;=L - -.;_.;_..;;c_;;c..;;c..;;c.�..;;..;;cc.;_.;_lr .... :...;.;.:.:.;;, ;;_;;_.;_:.;_;;;_,.;_.;_;;_;;_..;;c:..::..:.:::.;l ! 

I I 1 
Pennsylvania (HB1 842) : Under age 1 8  

i I ! 
i Disappearance or Not specified ; Felony in the 3rd 

I dea� degree 

I I I I I 

of a child 

Also prohibits parent 
1i"om falsely 
incriminating another 
or providing fictitious 
reports to law 
enforcement 
authorities regarding 
child 

I I ' '''' '''' - _-.-_ 

-----··----� I ;:..c.::;..;;c..;;c_:.;....._:;;_;;_._:.;_=.:;::.c;. r:=.:::;;_;;_,;;;.:c.;;;.;;;.c;;;.:___..-:..;;;;.;;;..;..... j:---..;;c;;;.;;;.---'-c:.... • ..:.;;;.;;;...;;c_:_..__; r-.c..:_c.;;_ ___ ;;;.;;;...:._--- _----- -

I Under age 1 8  l Disappearance or South Carolina 

; (H4442) 

i South Dakota 

: (SB 43) 

! 
i 

[ 
: • Tennessee 

• (SB 21 23) 

1 ! death 
I 1! I -

Within 24 hours Felony, punishable 
by up to 1ive years 
imprisonment � - - · · · ·· ·· · ···· · · · · ·· - ·· · ;;::.::::.:::=====.:::c:.:; ;====== ,,,,, .. :..::..:.:::.;-··· , ,,, _ ,,, . . . . ... . ... . . . .... . ,,,, 

I Under age 1 8  I UnspecOed 

I I l I I II i I 

Under age 1 4  

Under age 1 8  

Under age 1 8  

I 

I 

Disappearance 

Death 

Disappearance 

: 

Unspecified 

Within 48 hours of 
knowledge 

Within six hours of 
knowledge 

Within 24 hours of 
knowledge 

Felony, punishable 
by up to 1ive years 
imprisonment 

Class 1 
misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for up 
to one year, a fine of 
up to $2,000, or both 

Class 5 felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for up to five years and a 
fine of up to $10 ,000 

Class E felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment for 
between one and six : 

' years and a fine of 
: up to $3,000 : 

.. ' '  ' . ... 

Applies when parent 
or guardian gives 
false intrmation to 
police with the intent to : 
obstruct, delay, · 

preven� or impede 
the investigation ofthe 
death or 
disappearance ofthe 
child 
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4/2/13  "CAYLEE'S LAW': LEGISLATION IN OTHER STATES ·�=======�======:lL;=:=c.::..·:c::···�:.:;;;;··:;;;;;;··=···::::·::::·--l=iiL ... -. "''" -.. - ·-·-

.. Vermont 

. (81 24) 

Under age 1 8  
! 

! Disappearance 

i 

I 

' 
: 

Under age 1 8  Dea1h 

VV11hin 24 hours or as 
soon 1hereafter as 
reasonably 
practicable 

Punishable by 
imprisonment up to 
five years, a fine up 
to $10,000, or bo1h 

VV11hin two hours or as Punishable by 
soon 1hereafter as imprisonment up to 
reasonably five years, or a fine 
practicable up to $ 10,0000, or 

Not required if 1he 
child dies at a heal1h 
care facility or while , 
under 1he care of a .. 
heal1h care provider i 

;;:;:::::::.:c:::::::.�:c�:::.::c::.:�· · .= ........ , .. � ... =·· ·· ··:.:;;:.··· ·:::: · .... =·····::·:·:· · ....................... ..................... ................ · · · ·' ····· ···· ............... ................. · i bo1h 
1................... .... ........................ ::c:L ...... =··· =.:====c; .. ..................... .................... ......... ......... ....... . .. . . .  ' l . .. Virginia Under age 1 8  I Dea1h VV11htn one hour 

' (HB494) 

Class 6 felony, Not required to report 
punishable by dea1h if child is under 
imprisonment for up 1he care of a heal1h 
to five years, a fine of care provider 
up to $2,500, or bo1h [ .. ��:.:;;;;:::::;;;======;�======��======��========��======��======� ; 

, Washington 

! 
i 

(HB2726) 

Under age 1 3 

i 
I 

! 

Disappearance VV11hin 48 hours Gross misdemeanor, 
punishable by 
imprisonment up to 
one year, or a fine of 
$5,000, or bo1h 

'�========� �========��==========. �========��==========. i 

Under age 1 8  Dea1h VV11hin 6 hours 
l 

Class C felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment up to : 
five years, or a line o� 
$10,000, or bo1h I 

i rl.;,;  ·�· ·'C'''::.,'·::.,c···::..c::.,······:�··;;.,·=····=,,·::.,c··"::.,c''::.,C'"''''::..C::.,'''''J ;.,,.,.,., ,,,. ,.. , ,  

I Under age 1 8  
: 

i i 
;=:::..c::..c::..c::..c::..c::..c::..c;,;;;.·�· �· � r:c:::::.;;=��==��� r�'·'' '�' ·::::;c::..··�,, .. =· �·, ,.,�,,, ,� .. =,. .. . .  r=���·�, � .. �,, .,�=, . 

Child under age 1 2: j If failure to report is for : I 
felony, punishable by 1 1he purpose of 

· 

imprisonment of I concealing a criminal ' 

West Virginia 

i (HB4242) 

: : 

i 

: Disappearance 

i 
i 

! 

VV11hin 24 hours of 
knowledge, or 

wi1hin 1 2  hours of between one and five! act or activity, penally , I knowledge if years and a line up i is a felony , punishable: 
disappearance to $3,000 ! by imprisonment of .. 'I 
creates a substantial 1 : between 1hree and 1 3 : 
risk of serious bodily 1 Child ages 1 2  to 1 7: ' years and a fine of : 
injury or dea1h misdemeanor, between $1 ,000 and 

punishable by $5,000 
imprisonment for up to one year ,  a fine of 

: I  

: 1 ; i ' 
,.-' ;:;._' "" .. , = .. ... 

= ... .. =···=·=· ·=· =c....·=,· =··::::::···:::.:,,· �====, =, .. ,,,:.:::;··J ;c======� r:====== .. .:::;-- ;=-=,-,, ====,.�-,-· r====�,-=.,,. :::.:;, ·::::; .. ,,.::::: .. '' 

between $ 1 00 and 
$500, or bo1h 

: lwsconsin 

(SB299) 

, Under age 1 3 1 Disappearance VV11hin 24 hours lf1he child dies: lSS 
: D felony, punishable .. . r======::..;;.,! �====:.:::::::::::.; ;::::"'""="====� b ' ' , .. , ,.-,, "''' ""'"'""' """' ' ''" ' I  : y tmpnsonment up : 1  
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' 

' 

' 

! 
' 
' 

: 

. 

; 
. ... . ... . ... 

��- ·o - . - . -

. . . ...

.
.. . . . . . "' 

Age 16- 17  

.. � "'  �. ''"' .�ccm.�� � m  

. . . . 

1.- - - - r r  - - ·  -· ·-- � - - ·- ··· · · - . . _ _ _ _ 

Disappearance Within 72 hours 

I 

I 
' 

: 
: 

. . . .... . .... . .... . 

Source : State Le gislature s'  website s and official statute s 

HD/ MR:km 

...... -- J ..... ...... _ ,  ..... ... . .... ... f"' to $1 00,000, or both 
' 

If the child suffers an 
injury that causes a 
permanent 
disfigurement 

or results in a 
permanent or 

· protracted loss or 
impairment of a bodily 
function: Class F 

, felony, punishable by 
' imprisonment up to 
1 2  years and six 
months, a fine up to 
$25,000, or both 

If the child suffers 
pain or an injury 
such as a broken 
bone or one that 
requires stitches: 
Class H felony, 
punishable by 
imprisonment up to 
six years, a fine up 
$10,000, or both 

If the child is 
. unharmed: Class A 
misdemeanor, 

! punishable by 
. imprisonment up to 
: nine months, a fine 
: up to $10 ,000, or 
' both : 

... vn. �•., 

file:I//C :/U sers/l<hog an/AppO ata/Locai/M icrosofVWindowsrr emporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/00 BP J6ZG/Cayflee' s law surnrnary.htm 

: 

: 

: 

' 

: 

.. ... ... . . .. . ......... ...... ... ..... 

16/16 



Karls, Karen 

From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Cc: 

Subject: 

Attachments: 

Annette Bendish < annette. bendish@ndsba.org >  

Tuesday, April 02, 2013 10:03 AM 

Koppelman, Kim A. ;  Klemin, Lawrence R.; Boehning, Randy G.; Brabandt, Roger L.; 

Delmore, Lois M.; Ha nson, Ben W.; Hogan, Kathy L.; Karls, Karen; Kretschmar, Wil l iam E.; 

Larson, Diane K.; Maragos, Andrew G.; Paur, Gary A.; Steiner, Vicky L.; Toman, Nathan P. 

Martinson, Jon; Annette Bendish 

Proposed amendment to Senate Bill 2125 

Proposed amendment to SB 2125 2.docx 

As you requested, attached is the p roposed a mendment la nguage. 

I have a lso pasted the la nguage of the com pu lsory attenda nce law below. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

An nette 

North Dakota School Boards Association 
800-932-8791 
(701)255-4127 
an_n�t���bendiib_@.ng��A.,Qm 

15.1-20-03. Compu lsory attendance law - Enforcement - Penalty. 

1. Each teacher a nd administrator is charged with the enforcement of compu lsory 

attenda nce provisions. The com pu lsory attenda nce provisions a re appl icable to any 

student who is offe red school faci l it ies by a school d istrict, rega rdless of whether or not 

the student actual ly resides in  the district. 

2.  If a teacher determines that a student is not in attendance as req u i red by this chapter 

and that the student has not been excused in  accordance with this chapter o r  in 

accorda nce with the school d istrict's or  nonpublic school's policies, the teacher sha l l  

not ify the administrator of the schoo l .  

3 .  U pon receiving notice of a student's a bsence under su bsection 2, the a d m i n istrator 

sha l l  in it iate a n  investigation i nto the ca use of the a bse nce. If the administrator has 

reason to believe that the person having responsibi l ity for the student has fa i led to 

ensure that the student is in  attenda nce, the admi nistrator shall refer the matter to the 

loca l law enforcement agency. 

4. Any person who fa i ls to ensure that a student is in  attenda nce as req uired by th is  

chapter is gui lty of  a n  i nfraction for a first offense a nd is gui lty of  a class B 

m isdemea nor for a seco nd o r  subsequent offense. 

5. In a prosecution for a n  offe nse under this section, it is a n  affi rmative defense if the 

person responsible for e nsuring that the student is in attenda nce has made su bsta ntial  

and reaso nable efforts to com ply with the req u i rements of this section, but is unable to 

compel the student to attend school.  If the cou rt determines that t he affi rmative 

defense is val id,  the cou rt sha l l  d ismiss the complaint against the person .  
l 




